# SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. COVID-19 EMERGENCY PLAN

## Contents

FORWARD
INTRODUCTION
SYMPTOMS OF COVID-19
HOW COVID-19 SPREADS
HOW a COVID-19 OUTBREAK COULD AFFECT WORKPLACES
Absenteeism
Change in Patterns of Commerce5
Interrupted Supply/Delivery
Disease Preparedness and Response Plan5
Necessary Controls6
Prepare to Implement Basic Infection Prevention Measures
Policies and Procedures for Prompt Identification and Isolation of Sick People7
Develop, Implement, and Communicate about Workplace Flexibilities and Protections 7
Implement Workplace Controls8
Engineering Controls
Administrative Controls9
Safe Work Practices
Personal Protective Equipment (PPE)10
Follow Existing OSHA Standards
Appendix A - N95 Dust Mask & Surgical Mask Facts13

## FORWARD

This COVID-19 Emergency Plan contains recommendations as well as descriptions of mandatory safety and health standards as published by the Occupational Safety and Health (OSHA) Act. The recommendations within this COVIC-19 Emergency Plan are advisory in nature, informational in content, and are intended to assist SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. in providing a safe and healthful workplace. It is the policy for SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. to comply with safety and health standards and regulations promulgated by OSHA or by a state with an OSHA-approved State plan. In addition, it is the policy of SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. to also comply with OSHA's General Duty Clause, Section 5(a) (1), requires employers to provide their employees with a workplace free from recognized hazards likely to cause death or serious physical harm.

Some material contained in this publication, has been extracted from OSHA's *Guidance in Preparing Workplaces for COVD-19.* OSHA has deemed this material as being in the public domain and may be reproduced, fully or partially, without permission. Source credit is requested but not required.

This information will be made available to sensory-impaired individuals upon request. Voice phone: (202) 693-1999; teletypewriter (TTY) number: 1-877-889-5627.

#### INTRODUCTION

Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) is a respiratory disease caused by the SARS-CoV-2 virus. It has spread from China to many other countries around the world, including the United States. Depending on the severity of COVID-19's international impacts, outbreak conditions—including those rising to the level of a pandemic—can affect all aspects of daily life, including travel, trade, tourism, food supplies, and financial markets.

To reduce the impact of COVID-19 outbreak conditions on businesses, workers, customers, and the public, SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. is planning for COVID-19. SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. is addressing the specific exposure risks, sources of exposure, routes of transmission, and other unique characteristics of SARS-CoV-2 (i.e., compared to pandemic influenza viruses). SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. is preparing as far in advance as possible of potentially worsening outbreak conditions. Continuity planning is required in order to address the challenges of COVID-19 with sufficient resources and training in order to minimize the effects upon our organization.

This COVID-19 Emergency Plan utilizes The Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) developed COVID-19 planning guide based on traditional infection prevention and industrial hygiene practices. This plan focuses on the need for SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. to implement engineering, administrative, and work practice controls and personal protective equipment (PPE), as well as considerations for doing so.

SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. will use OSHA's planning guidance to help identify risk levels in workplace settings and to determine any appropriate control measures to implement.

Additional guidance may be needed as COVID-19 outbreak conditions change, including as new information about the virus, its transmission and impacts, becomes available.

The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services' Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) provides the latest information about COVID-19 and the global outbreak: <u>www.</u> <u>cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov</u>. SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. will continue to monitor this new information.

The OSHA COVID-19 webpage offers information specifically for workers and employers: <u>www.osha.gov/covid-19</u>.

## SYMPTOMS OF COVID-19

Infection with SARS-CoV-2, the virus that causes COVID-19, can cause illness ranging from mild to severe and, in some cases, can be fatal. Symptoms typically include fever, cough, and shortness of breath. Some people infected with the virus have reported experiencing other non-respiratory symptoms. Other people, referred to as *asymptomatic cases*, have experienced no symptoms at all.

According to the Center for Disease Control (CDC), symptoms of COVID-19 may appear in as few as 2 days or as long as 14 days after exposure.

## HOW COVID-19 SPREADS

Although the first human cases of COVID-19 likely resulted from exposure to infected animals, infected people can spread SARS-CoV-2 to other people.

The virus is thought to spread mainly from person-to-person, including:

- Between people who are in close contact with one another (within about 6 feet).
- Through respiratory droplets produced when an infected person coughs or sneezes.

These droplets can land in the mouths or noses of people who are nearby or possibly be inhaled into the lungs.

It may be possible that a person can get COVID-19 by touching a surface or object that has SARS-CoV-2 on it and then touching their own mouth, nose, or possibly their eyes, but this is not thought to be the primary way the virus spreads.

People are thought to be most contagious when they are most symptomatic (i.e., experiencing fever, cough, and/or shortness of breath). Some spread might be possible before people show symptoms; there have been reports of this type of asymptomatic transmission with this new coronavirus, but this is also not thought to be the main way the virus spreads.

Although the United States has implemented public health measures to limit the spread of the virus, it is likely that some person-to-person transmission will continue to occur.

The CDC website provides the latest information about COVID-19 transmission: www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/about/transmission.html.

## HOW a COVID-19 OUTBREAK COULD AFFECT WORKPLACES

Similar to influenza viruses, SARS-CoV-2, the virus that causes COVID-19, has the potential to cause extensive outbreaks. Under conditions associated with widespread person-to-person spread, multiple areas of the United States and other countries may see impacts at the same time. In the absence of a vaccine, an outbreak may also be an extended event. As a result, workplaces may experience:

- Absenteeism.
- Change in Patterns of Commerce.
- Interrupted Supply/Delivery.

## Absenteeism

Workers could be absent because they:

- Are sick.
- Are caregivers for sick family members.
- Are caregivers for children if schools or day care centers are closed.
- Have at-risk people at home, such as immunocompromised family members.
- Are afraid to come to work because of fear of possible exposure.

## **Change in Patterns of Commerce**

Consumer demand for items related to infection prevention (e.g., respirators) is likely to increase significantly, while consumer interest in other goods may decline. Consumers may also change shopping patterns because of a COVID-19 outbreak. Consumers may try to shop at off-peak hours to reduce contact with other people, show increased interest in home delivery services, or prefer other options, such as drive-through service, to reduce person-to-person contact.

## Interrupted Supply/Delivery

Shipments of items from geographic areas severely affected by COVID-19 may be delayed or cancelled with or without notification. Additionally, some products bay be absent from store shelves due to customer hoarding. Examples of this include eggs, hand sanitizer and toilet paper.

#### **Disease Preparedness and Response Plan**

SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. has developed this infectious disease preparedness and response plan to help guide protective actions against COVID-19.

This plan will assist SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. in staying abreast of guidance from federal, state, local, tribal, and/or territorial health agencies, and consider how to incorporate those recommendations and resources into workplace-specific plans.

SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. COVID-19 Emergency Plan will consider and address the level(s) of risk associated with various worksites and job tasks workers perform at those sites. Such considerations may include:

- Where, how, and to what sources of SARS-CoV-2 might workers be exposed, including:
  - The general public, customers, and coworkers.
  - Sick individuals or those at particularly high risk of infection (e.g., international travelers who have visited locations with widespread sustained (ongoing) COVID-19 transmission, healthcare workers who have had unprotected exposures to people known to have, or suspected of having, COVID-19).
  - Non-occupational risk factors at home and in community settings.
- Workers' individual risk factors (e.g., older age; presence of chronic medical conditions, including immunocompromising conditions; pregnancy).

## **Necessary Controls**

SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. shall follow federal and state & local recommendations regarding *development of contingency plans* for situations that may arise as a result of outbreaks, such as:

- Increased rates of worker absenteeism.
- The need for social distancing, staggered work shifts, downsizing operations, delivering services remotely, and other exposure-reducing measures.
- Options for conducting essential operations with a reduced workforce, including crosstraining workers across different jobs in order to continue operations or deliver surge services.
- Interrupted supply chains or delayed deliveries.

Contingency Plans will also consider and address the other steps that SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. can take to reduce the risk of worker exposure to SARS-CoV-2 in the workplace as described in the sections below.

## Prepare to Implement Basic Infection Prevention Measures

At SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. protecting employees will depend on emphasizing basic infection prevention measures. As appropriate, SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. will continue to emphasize good hygiene and infection control practices, including:

- Promoting frequent and thorough hand washing.
- Encouraging workers to stay home if they are sick.
- Encouraging respiratory etiquette, including covering coughs and sneezes.
- The provision of tissues and trash receptacles for customers and the public.

SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. will explore whether it can establish policies and practices, such as flexible worksites (e.g., telecommuting) and flexible work hours (e.g., staggered shifts), to increase the physical distance among employees and between employees and others if state and local health authorities recommend the use of social distancing strategies.

SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. discourages workers from using other workers' phones, desks, offices, or other work tools and equipment, when possible.

SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. will maintain regular housekeeping practices, including routine cleaning and disinfecting of surfaces, equipment, and other elements of the work environment. When choosing cleaning chemicals, SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. will consult information on Environmental Protection Agency (EPA)-approved disinfectant labels with claims against emerging viral pathogens. Products with EPA-approved emerging viral pathogens claims are expected to be effective against SARS-CoV-2 based on data for harder to kill viruses.

SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. will follow the manufacturer's instructions for use of all cleaning and disinfection products (e.g., concentration, application method and contact time, PPE). SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. shall follow disposal of said cleaning and disinfection products as outlined within the Bloodborne Pathogen Plan on file.

## Policies and Procedures for Prompt Identification and Isolation of Sick People

SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. will create and adopt the following policies and procedures for prompt identification of sick people.

- Prompt identification and isolation of potentially infectious individuals is a critical step in protecting workers, customers, visitors, and others at a worksite.
- Inform and encourage employees to self-monitor for signs and symptoms of COVID-19 if they suspect possible exposure.
- We are creating and will adopted the policies and procedures:
  - For employees to report when they are sick or experiencing symptoms of COVID-19.
  - For immediately isolating people who have signs and/or symptoms of COVID-19, and train workers to implement them.
  - To take steps to limit the spread of the respiratory secretions of a person who may have COVID-19. SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. may provide a face mask, if feasible and available, and ask the person to wear it, if tolerated.
    - Note: A face mask (also called a surgical mask, procedure mask, or other similar terms) on a patient or other sick person should not be confused with PPE for a worker; the mask acts to contain potentially infectious respiratory secretions at the source (i.e., the person's nose and mouth) (Appendix A – N95 Dust Mask & Surgical Mask Facts).
  - $\circ$  To restrict the number of personnel entering isolation areas.
  - To use additional engineering and administrative controls, safe work practices, and PPE as required.

## **Develop, Implement, and Communicate about Workplace Flexibilities and Protections** SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. shall:

• Actively encourage sick employees to stay home.

- Ensure that sick leave policies are flexible and consistent with public health guidance and that employees are aware of these policies.
- Talk with companies that provide SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. with contract or temporary employees about the importance of sick employees staying home and encourage them to develop non-punitive leave policies.
- Not require a healthcare provider's note for employees who are sick with acute respiratory illness to validate their illness or to return to work, as healthcare provider offices and medical facilities may be extremely busy and not able to provide such documentation in a timely way.
- Maintain flexible policies that permit employees to stay home to care for a sick family member. SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. is aware that more employees may need to stay at home to care for sick children or other sick family members than is usual.
- Provide adequate, usable, and appropriate training, education, and informational material about business-essential job functions and worker health and safety, including proper hygiene practices and the use of any workplace controls (including PPE).
- Address workers' concerns about pay, leave, safety, health, and other issues that may arise during infectious disease outbreaks. Informed workers who feel safe at work are less likely to be unnecessarily absent.
- Work with insurance companies (e.g., those providing employee health benefits) and state and local health agencies to provide information to workers and customers about medical care in the event of a COVID-19 outbreak.

In addition, SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. will become familiar with the CDC's Interim Guidance for Preventing the Spread of COVID-19 in Homes and Residential Communities:

• www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/hcp/guidance-prevent-spread.html.

## Implement Workplace Controls

Occupational safety and health professionals use a framework called the "hierarchy of controls" to select ways of controlling workplace hazards. In other words, the best way to control a hazard is to systematically remove it from the workplace, rather than relying on workers to reduce their exposure. During a COVID-19 outbreak, when it may not be possible to eliminate the hazard, the most effective protection measures are (listed from most effective to least effective): engineering controls, administrative controls, safe work practices (a type of administrative control), and PPE. There are advantages and disadvantages to each type of control measure when considering the ease of implementation, effectiveness, and cost. In most cases, a combination of control measures will be necessary to protect workers from exposure to SARS-CoV-2.

SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. shall implement workplace controls as deemed appropriate.

## **Engineering Controls**

Engineering controls involve isolating employees from work-related hazards. In workplaces where they are appropriate, these types of controls reduce exposure to hazards without relying

on worker behavior and can be the most cost-effective solution to implement. Engineering controls that Your Company Name may use include:

- Installing high-efficiency air filters.
- Increasing ventilation rates in the work environment.
- Installing physical barriers, such as clear plastic sneeze guards.

## Administrative Controls

Typically, administrative controls are changes in work policy or procedures to reduce or minimize exposure to a hazard. Examples of administrative controls that SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. may use include:

- 1) Encouraging sick workers to stay at home.
- 2) Employees are required to take their temperatures before arriving at work and if they have a temperature of greater than 100.4 degrees, they should self-quarantine at home.
- 3) Employees who have come in contact with anyone who has been diagnosed with COVID-19 or coronavirus or who have any of the symptoms of COVID-19 or coronavirus shall self-quarantine at home.
- 4) If an employee becomes ill while on the job, he/she will be provided and required to wear a face mask and will be directed to leave the job and to seek medical attention. Such an employee will not be permitted to return to work until they are free of any symptoms of COVID-19 and/or the coronavirus. Masks will be provided on the job for employees to wear in such circumstances. Unless OSHA or CDC require otherwise employees who are not ill and/or exhibiting symptoms of COVID-19 or coronavirus are not required to wear masks on the job unless their duties require the wearing or PPE.
- 5) In order to maintain the recommended six-foot social distancing; Employees shall drive their own personal vehicles to work. We do not recommend ride sharing by employees to get to work. While on the jobsite and working, employees shall make every possible effort to maintain six feet of separation between themselves and other employees.
- 6) We encourage frequent hand washing with soap and water. Hands shall be washed for at least 20 seconds. DO NOT throw any trash on the ground. Hand sanitizer will also be provided on each PC Station along with disposable wipes when available.
- 7) Employees should avoid personal contact with other employees. In the case that contact between two employees or contact of a SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. employee and Non- SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. employee on the job, the SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. employee shall immediately wash his/her hands with soap and water for a minimum of 20 seconds.
- 8) Before using any tools on a job site, the employee should wipe the tool down with a disposable sanitizer wipe.
- 9) Employees who sneeze or cough shall do so into a disposable tissue, which shall be properly disposed of in a provided trash receptacle. If a tissue is not available employees should cough or sneeze into the crook of their elbow.
- 10) Meetings on all job sites shall be limited to a small number of employees so that six feet of separation can be maintained between all employees, even if this necessitates more

that one meeting to accomplish the purposes of the meeting. This includes all meetings held for safety training purposes.

- 11) In SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. administrative offices employees shall maintain six feet of social distancing at all times. In addition, plastic sneeze guards will be placed around employee work stations to protect employees from coughs or sneezes of other employees. Offices and or cubicles shall suffice.
- 12) Minimizing contact among workers, clients, and customers by replacing face-to-face meetings with virtual communications and implementing telework if feasible.
- 13) Establishing alternating days or extra shifts that reduce the total number of employees in a facility at a given time, allowing them to maintain distance from one another while maintaining a full onsite work week.
- 14) Discontinuing nonessential travel to locations with ongoing COVID-19 outbreaks.
- 15) Regularly check CDC travel warning levels at: www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019ncov/travelers.
- 16) Developing emergency communications plans, including a forum for answering workers' concerns and internet-based communications, if feasible.
- 17) Providing workers with up-to-date education and training on COVID-19 risk factors and protective behaviors (e.g., cough etiquette and care of PPE). Training workers who need to use protecting clothing and equipment how to put it on, use/wear it, and take it off correctly, including in the context of their current and potential duties.

## Safe Work Practices

Safe work practices are types of administrative controls that include procedures for safe and proper work used to reduce the duration, frequency or intensity of exposure to a hazard. SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. will continue to use safe work practices such as:

- Providing resources and a work environment that promotes hygiene. Examples include:
  - Provide tissues.
  - No touch trash cans.
  - Hand soap.
  - Alcohol-based hand rubs containing at least 60% alcohol.
  - Disinfectants.
  - Disposable towels to clean work surfaces.
- Require regular hand washing or using alcohol-based hand rubs.

## Personal Protective Equipment (PPE)

While engineering and administrative controls are considered more effective in minimizing exposure to COVID-19, PPE may also be needed to prevent certain exposures. While correctly using PPE can help prevent some exposures, it should not take the place of other prevention strategies.

When selecting PPE, SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. will continue to consider factors such as function, fit, decontamination ability, disposal, and cost. Sometimes, when PPE will have to be used repeatedly for a long period of time, a more expensive and durable type of PPE may be

less expensive overall than disposable PPE. SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. will abide by the PPE Plan and the Respiratory Protection Plan as well as other plans on file.

Examples of PPE include: gloves, goggles, face shields, face masks, and respiratory protection, when appropriate. During an outbreak of an infectious disease, such as COVID-19, recommendations for PPE specific to occupations or job tasks may change depending on geographic location, updated risk assessments for workers, and information on PPE effectiveness in preventing the spread of COVID-19. SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. will continue to check the OSHA and CDC websites regularly for updates about recommended PPE.

When using PPE, it must be:

- Selected based on the risk of being infected with SARS-CoV-2 while working and job tasks that may lead to exposure.
- Properly fitted and periodically refitted, as applicable (e.g., respirators). Consistently and properly worn when required.
- Regularly inspected, maintained, and replaced, as necessary.
- Properly removed, cleaned, and stored or disposed of, as applicable, to avoid contamination of self, others, or the environment.
- A surgical N95 respirator when both respiratory protection and resistance to blood and body fluids is needed.

Face shields may also be worn on top of a respirator to prevent bulk contamination of the respirator. Certain respirator designs with forward protrusions (duckbill style) may be difficult to properly wear under a face shield. Ensure that the face shield does not prevent airflow through the respirator.

## Follow Existing OSHA Standards

Existing OSHA standards may apply to protecting workers from exposure to and infection with SARS-CoV-2.

While there is no specific OSHA standard covering SARS-CoV-2 exposure, some OSHA requirements may apply to preventing occupational exposure to SARS-CoV-2. SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. will abide by OSHA's Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) standards (in general industry, 29 CFR 1910 Subpart I), which require using gloves, eye and face protection, and respiratory protection

www.osha.gov/lawsegs/regulations/standardnumber/1910#1910 Subpart I).

SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. will also abide by The General Duty Clause, Section 5(a)(1) of the Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) Act of 1970, 29 USC 654(a)(1), which requires SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. to furnish to each worker "employment and a place of employment,

which are free from recognized hazards that are causing or are likely to cause death or serious physical harm (www. osha. gov/laws-regs/oshact/completeoshact).

OSHA's Bloodborne Pathogens standard (29 CFR 1910.1030) applies to occupational exposure to human blood and other potentially infectious materials that typically do not include respiratory secretions that may transmit SARS-CoV-2. However, the provisions of the standard offer a framework that may help control some sources of the virus, including exposures to body fluids (e.g., respiratory secretions) not covered by the standard (<u>www.osha.gov/laws-regs/regulations/standardnumber/1910/1910.1030</u>). SHEET METAL CONNECTORS, INC. will abide by its Bloodborne Pathogen Plan.

Workers with medium exposure risk may need to wear some combination of gloves, a gown, a face mask, and/or a face shield or goggles. PPE ensembles for workers in the medium exposure risk category will vary by work task, the results of Your Company Name's hazard assessment, and the types of exposures workers have on the job.

## Appendix A - N95 Dust Mask & Surgical Mask Facts

The "N95" is a government efficiency rating that means the mask blocks about 95 percent of particles that are 0.3 microns in size or larger. Therefore, the N95 does not have the ability to filter out a virus which is typically smaller in size than 0.3 microns. Also, the virus may be transmitted through the air without the presence of dust. Here are some things to consider while making the decision to wear or not wear a N95 dust mask or a surgical mask.

## N95 Facts:

- Particulates smaller than 0.3 microns will pass through the dust mask carrying the virus with it as well.
- This dust masks is designed to prevent dust inhalation. If the virus is carried in the air and not on a dust particle, this mask will not filter out the virus.
- If the virus is carried in the air or on a dust particle, the virus can still enter the body through absorption or ingestion.
- The dust mask user needs to be fit tested and trained in the use, care and disposal of the mask.
  - Bad fits are deadly. Contaminated air breathed from around the unfiltered edges instead of through the N95-rated material undermines the purpose of a mask.
  - Dust masks are designed for a one time use.
    - Dust masks deteriorate quickly from sweat, wear and age.
    - The inside of the dust masks can become contaminated if removed from the face or if the seal is compromised.
    - Under continuous use, the dust mask is only effective for about 8 hours of use. However, one rarely wears a dust mask for eight (8) hours on a continuous basis.
  - The user shall be clean shaven daily to ensure a good fit. Facial hair prevents a good fit.
  - The dust mask usually sells for less than \$1.00. Supply and demand has escalated the price to \$2.75.
- From a medical perspective, not everyone is capable of wearing a dust mask on a full time basis.

## Surgical Mask Facts:

- This mask is designed to assist in curtailing the transfer of pathogens from the wearer to others while exhaling. Hence, unless you are contagious, it will provide you with only a minimal factor of safety.
- This mask cannot provide a seal around the edges. Hence, air can pass between the wearer's face and the mask providing minimal inhalation protection.
- Surgical masks are designed for a one time use.
- Surgical masks deteriorate quickly from moisture.
- Surgical masks provide very little protection from dust.